STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Feb 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DIMITRI TARION DICKENS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000878

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in refusing to charge the lesser-included offense of assault and battery second degree in connection with a shooting victim who sustained only moderate bodily injury thereby depriving the jury of the ability to consider the extent of the injury as an element of the crime charged rather than simply the mechanism of its infliction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for armed robbery, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime by a Berkley County grand jury. R. * (indictments). Isaiah Canales was charged with the same offenses and tried with appellant as a co-defendant. The case was tried before the Honorable Bentley Price and a jury on September 25 – 27, 2023. R. *. During trial, appellant was represented by Melissa Gay and Steve Davis represented Canales with Alexander Myers and Olivia Lynch appearing on behalf of the state. R. *. The jury acquitted both defendants of armed robbery, but convicted both on the charges of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Tr. 366, l. 13 – 367, l. 13. Following the jury's verdict, Judge Price sentenced appellant to fifteen years suspended on the service of ten for the ABHAN conviction and five years for the possession offense, concurrent. R. * (sentence sheets). Appellant's counsel moved for reconsideration of the sentence. Following a hearing on March 28, 2024, Judge Price denied the motion. R. * Order.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The purpose of [jury] instructions is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). “In reviewing jury charges for error, [the court] must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005). The trial judge is to charge the jury on defenses, including any lesser-included offense, if there is any evidence from which the jury could infer that the defense or lesser-included offense applies. *See* State v. Watson, 349 S.C. 372, 375, 563 S.E.2d 336, 337 (2002); *see also* State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 584 S.E.2d 110 (2003) (requested charge must be given if there is any evidence to support it; trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence). “A request to charge a correct statement of the law on an issue raised by the indictment and the evidence presented at trial should not be refused.” State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (*quoting* State v. Austin, 299 S.C. 456, 385 S.E.2d 830 (1989)). “To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to charge the lesser-included offense of assault and battery second degree in connection with a shooting victim who sustained only moderate bodily injury thereby depriving the jury of the ability to consider the extent of the injury as an element of the crime charged rather than simply the mechanism of its infliction.

Relevant Facts.

On April 25, 2021, Brayden Ward and Daniel Varner along with other friends left the Royal Lanes bowling alley in Goose Creek just after closing time. Tr. 123, l. 10 – 124, l. 5. As the group approached their vehicle, appellant and Isaiah Canales allegedly came upon them with guns already drawn. Tr. 124, ll. 7 – 14. Varner claimed to have been hit in the head with a pistol by Canales.¹ Tr. 169, ll. 9 - 13. As Varner ran away from the vehicle, shots were fired. There was a dispute about who fired the first shot, with Varner admitting he may have been the one to fire first. Tr. 173, l. 4 – 174, l. 8. Varner used a concealed handgun which he had carried with him inside the bowling alley, claiming he was “standing” his ground and acting in self-defense. Tr. 186, l. 9 – 187, l. 8. Ward’s account indicated that when the interaction with Canales and Varner began, appellant threatened Ward with a handgun. Tr. 127, ll. 12 – 128, 20. While Ward was lying on the pavement, he claimed appellant searched through his pockets and stole his wallet. Ward then observed appellant fire the weapon towards Varner. Tr. 127, ll. 12 – 128, 20. The state introduced a surveillance video of the altercation. State’s Exhibits 16 & 17. While the

¹ The emergency room doctor, Daniel Regino, contradicted the claim regarding a scalp wound allegedly caused by the pistol, indicating no such wound was located on Varner. Tr. 250, ll. 10 – 15.

video does not clearly show the incidents as described by Ward and Varner, it does show numerous weapons being fired in a tight time period.

While Daniel Varner was struck with three bullets, his injuries were not life-threatening as acknowledged by his treating physician, Dr. Daniel Regino. Tr. 249, ll. 1 – 6. The wounds did not injure any major organs or vessels. Tr. 249, l. 7 – 250, l. 6. Varner was ambulatory after the shooting and communicated with responding officers on scene. Tr. 201, l. 24 – 202, l. 19. The lack of “impact” from the wounds was a source of pride for Varner: “I’m not most people, and most people die from one bullet, it doesn’t matter where you’re shot at.” Tr. 203, ll. 9 – 10. Varner stated that he “didn’t really realize I was shot” and thought “it was, like, just one bullet, but then I realized I got shot three times because my whole left side was bleeding from top to bottom.” Tr. 176, ll. 11 – 15. There was no testimony presented about any protracted or permanent loss of function of any part of Varner’s body.

During the charge conference, appellant’s counsel asked for the lesser-included offenses of assault and battery first and second be charged in light of the evidence of the injuries Varner actually sustained. Tr. 297, l. 22 – 298, l. 3. The state argued that “[t]here’s no -- the lesser-included is not necessary here; it’s just giving the jury an out.” Tr. 298, ll. 10 – 11.

The trial court initially denied charging either assault and battery first or second as lesser-included offenses.

THE COURT: All right. For the record, I have read I have the assault and battery, first degree, charge here. It indicates a person commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, and the act occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft.

A person may also commit the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act either is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily

injury, or occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft.

I think assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature mirrors that charge as well. So, I don't see any reason to confuse the jury with a lesser-included offense as to assault and battery, first degree. So, I'll allow the assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature to stand.

Tr. 299, ll. 5 – 24.

During the charge, the trial judge changed his mind and charged assault and battery first, but that decision was made *after closing arguments*. The trial court noted this unilateral change on the record:

THE COURT: All right. For the record, in the back, I took an opportunity to read and apply some of the facts to the assault and battery in the first degree, and over the State's objection, I chose to go ahead and charge it, so it's noted for the record.

Tr. 360, ll. 19 – 23.

Since the trial judge had already ruled before closing arguments that no lesser-included offenses would be charged, appellant's counsel did not argue the statutory differences between ABHAN or assault and battery first or second. Appellant's counsel did not argue or refer to the statutory definitions of great and moderate bodily injury.

Discussion.

Appellant was charged in the indictment with offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) for the injuries sustained by Varner during a shootout in Berkeley County. A person commits ABHAN "if the person unlawfully injures another person, and: (a) great bodily injury to another person results; or (b) the act is accomplished by *means likely to produce* death or great bodily injury." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (B)(1) (2015) (emphasis

added). In contrast, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (D)(1) (2015) declares a person “commits the offense of assault and battery in the second degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and (a) *moderate bodily injury to another person results* or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted” (emphasis added).

The statute defines great bodily injury as “bodily injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (A)(1) (2015). In contrast, moderate bodily injury means “physical injury that involves prolonged loss of consciousness, or that causes temporary or moderate disfigurement or temporary loss of the function of a bodily member or organ, or injury that requires medical treatment when the treatment requires the use of regional or general anesthesia or injury that results in a fracture or dislocation.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (B)(1) (2015).

“The Legislature uses inconsistent language throughout Title 16, Chapter 3 of the South Carolina Code to define specific elements required to constitute an offense against an individual's person, especially when the element requires an ‘injury.’” State v. Robinson, 437 S.C. 226, 232, 878 S.E.2d 8, 11 (Ct. App. 2022). “[T]he terms under the assault and battery statute are inconsistent.” Id.

The Legislature has thus crafted a statutory scheme that focuses on the nature and extent of the injury caused by the assault, as well as the overt act or mechanism of the assault itself. In the present case, the statutory scheme surrounding “great bodily injury” versus “moderate bodily injury” outlined by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (B)(1) and (D)(1) are factual issues that should have been resolved by the jury. This is particularly true when the nature of the injury arguably

falls squarely within the moderate bodily injury category, but the means of inflicting such injury may *potentially* cause a greater injury in other instances. Due to this ambiguity, under the rule of lenity, the trial court should have strictly construed the ambiguous statutory terms in favor of appellant and charged the jury with the lesser-included offense. *See State v. Samuels*, 403 S.C. 551, 558, 743 S.E.2d 773, 777 (2013) (noting the rule of lenity is a rule of statutory construction).

The statutory scheme focuses on the nature of the resulting injury to differentiate the degrees of assault and battery. The statutory scheme's ambiguity centers on the added language of *means likely to produce* phrasing. Here, the use of the word "likely" creates ambiguity. When an action creates "moderate bodily" injury as that term is defined under the statute, an ambiguity exists between the specific, statutorily defined injury and the "means likely to produce" provision of ABHAN. Any such ambiguity must be strictly construed against foreclosing assault and battery second as a lesser-included offense when the mechanism of the injury (the use of a gun) provides support for ABHAN while the actual injury inflicted supports either assault and battery first or second. *See State v. Miles*, 421 S.C. 154, 164, 805 S.E.2d 204, 210 (Ct. App. 2107) (requiring "any doubt about a statute's scope be resolved in the defendant's favor").

This dual approach to punishing crimes of assault and battery has been recognized by the appellate courts of this state:

The Act also provides that ABHAN is a lesser-included offense of attempted murder; assault and battery in the first degree is a lesser-included offense of ABHAN and attempted murder; assault and battery in the second degree is a lesser-included offense of first degree assault and battery, ABHAN, and attempted murder; and assault and battery in the third degree is a lesser-included offense of second degree assault and battery, first degree assault and battery, ABHAN, and attempted murder.

State v. Hernandez, 428 S.C. 257, 260, 834 S.E.2d 462, 463 (2019). Under our Supreme Court's clear directive in Hernandez, appellant was entitled to a charge on the lesser-included offense of assault and battery second. The trial court committed an error of law in refusing the requested charge. See State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E.2d 591 (2011).


Prejudice.

Appellant's defense was prejudiced by the trial court's original decision to refuse to charge with assault and battery first or second as lesser-included offenses. As noted, the trial judge changed his mind and charged assault and battery first only after closing argument. Appellant's counsel did not argue the statutory differences between ABHAN or assault and battery first or second. Appellant's counsel did not argue or refer to the statutory definition of moderate bodily injury as they were not to be part of the charge. The facts of this case do not support a foreclosure of the jury reaching a determination of moderate bodily injury as a matter of law. There is an indication in the jury's verdict that several aspects of the state's theory of the case was rejected by the jury. Despite Varner and Ward claiming they were initially approached by appellant and Caneles in a robbery, the jury acquitted both defendants of that charge. Tr. 366, ll. 24 -25, 367, ll. 11 - 12. This portion of the jury's verdict was supported by the numerous inconsistencies, particularly related to the alleged pistol whipping of Varner before the first shots were fired. Tr. 169, ll. 9 - 13. While Varner claimed Canales hit him in the head with a handgun, this claim was clearly contradicted by his treating physician. Tr. 250, ll. 10 - 15. Likewise, Ward claimed to have been robbed at gun point of his wallet, but the jury rejected the armed robbery charge. Tr. 127, ll. 12 - 128, 20.

Appellant was entitled to present the extent of the injuries sustained by Varner as part of the inconsistencies presented during trial. Had the trial judge properly ruled that he would charge both assault and battery first and second as required by Hernandez, counsel for appellant would have been able to guide the jury towards yet another inconsistency between the charge covering “great bodily injury” and the resulting “moderate bodily injury” actually suffered by Varner. Depriving the jury of the guidance on assault and battery second and thus preventing appellant’s counsel from arguing the extent of the injury as an element of consideration for the lesser-included offense was prejudicial.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, appellant requests that this Court reverse appellant's convictions and remand this matter for a new trial.



Gary H Johnson
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT