RECEIVED

Jul 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000878

The State,Respondent,

v.

Dimitri Tarion Dickens,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dimitri Tarion Dickens (Appellant) was indicted at the April, 2023 term of the Berkeley County Grand Jury for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) 2023-GS-08-01118); armed robbery (2023-GS-08-1119); and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2023-GS-08-01120). On September 25-27, 2023, Appellant and his co-defendant, Isaiah Canales, proceeded to a joint trial by jury before the Honorable Bentley Price. Appellant was represented by Melissa White Gay, Esquire, and Canales was represented by Steve C. Davis, Esquire, both of the Berkeley County Bar. Respondent (the State) was represented by Assistant Solicitors F. Alexander Myers and Olivia Lynch of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office. (R.p.1). At the conclusion of trial, the jury found both Appellant and Canales guilty of ABHAN and possession of a weapon during a violent crime but found them not guilty of armed robbery. Judge Price sentenced Appellant to fifteen (15) years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of ten (10) years' imprisonment for ABHAN and five (5) years' concurrent imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R.p.412-p.413; p.434-p.441).

Appellant made a motion to reconsider his sentence and on March 28, 2024, the trial court held a hearing on that motion; however, in an Order dated and filed May 9, 2024, the trial court denied the motion to reconsider and let the sentence stand. Appellant timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his convictions and sentence, and a brief was submitted in support of his appeal by Appellate Defender Gary H. Johnson of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense. This Brief of Respondent on behalf of the State now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Trial

On September 25, 2023, after the trial court addressed some pretrial matters, the jury was sworn, and the trial began. (R.p.35-p.44). The State and each defendant gave an opening statement. The State explained that the charges against Appellant and Canales stemmed from an incident that occurred on April 25, 2021, in the parking lot of the Royal Lanes bowling alley in Goose Creek. The solicitor contended the evidence would show that Appellant, Canales, and three unknown individuals armed themselves with guns and waited in a car until the two victims, Mr. Ward and Mr. Varner, exited the bowling alley to leave. As soon as Ward and Varner reached their car, the five men got out and ambushed them. Appellant approached Ward, held a gun to his head, rummaged through his pockets, and took some cash. At the same time, Canales approached Varner and told him not to move or try anything. Varner, who was also armed, decided to defend himself rather than follow Canales' instructions. He took out his gun and began shooting at the attackers, while several of the men started shooting back. Varner was ultimately shot three times as he continued firing his own gun while lying on the pavement bleeding. Appellant, Canales, and the others retreated to their cars and sped away. Varner was rushed to the hospital to be treated for his injuries. Canales, who had also been shot, ended up at the same hospital and was arrested that night. Appellant was not arrested until several months later. The solicitor proceeded to describe the State's burden of proof, the elements of the charged offenses, and the types of evidence the State intended to present during trial. (R.p.44-p.50).

In his opening statement, Appellant focused on the role of the jurors as fact finders, the presumption of innocence, the State's high burden of proof, the unclear video evidence, the fact

that Canales was also shot, and the contention that Varner shot first, to argue that neither he nor Canales started the altercation and therefore the jury should find them not guilty of the charged crimes. Appellant did not make any comments about the extent of Varner's injuries. (R.p.51-p.55). Next, Canales' opening statement focused on the purpose of the trial—to seek justice. He asked the jurors not to believe the State's hype and suggested the incident likely erupted when “a bunch of young people at the bowling alley . . . probably got some wrong intention about drugs, and things didn't go right.” Canales argued neither the video evidence from the scene nor the medical records would support the State's theory of the case and that his client had the right to defend himself. He said he was confident the jury would not believe the hype. During his open, Canales claimed the medical records would show Varner was merely shot in the thigh, that all his vital signs were normal, and that he was speaking full sentences at the hospital. (R.p.55-p.59).

After opening statements, the State presented its case-in-chief, calling a series of police officers, foundational and fact witnesses, and medical personnel to describe the incident, the ensuing investigation, and Varner's injuries. Chimere Myers, the 911 communications manager for the Goose Creek Police Department (GCPD), authenticated an audio recording of a 911 call following the incident and it was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit #1. (R.p.59-p.63). GCPD patrol officer Mindy Waites was the first officer on scene after responding to a call from dispatch. Upon arrival, she found one person [Varner] who was shot and described him as initially in shock and not talking. She said Varner then started speaking but kept repeating things. When other police units arrived, Waites helped secure the scene before being told she could go home. As she was driving away, she discovered broken glass in the roadway that had come from a car window or windshield that appeared to have a bullet hole in it. Waites

authenticated her body camera recording from the incident date and it was admitted as State's Exhibit #2. (R.p.63-p.70; p.75-p.76).

GCPD Sergeant Douglass Galluccio was the on-call investigator the evening of the incident and was dispatched to the scene. Upon arrival he was briefed by Sergeant Moree and then began processing the scene, which involved talking to victims and witnesses, taking notes, gathering evidence, marking the location of gun casings, taking photographs, and searching relevant vehicles at the scene. Galluccio said the police found a .380 pistol in the glove box of a Toyota Tacoma at the scene. He did not talk to Varner because Varner had already been transported to Trident Hospital; however, he did talk to Ward and developed Appellant as a suspect even though he had already fled the scene. Galluccio said Canales was a second suspect and he was arrested that night. (R.p.76-p.86; p.95-p.102).

Goose Creek Fire Department Lieutenant Andrew McAllister was working as a firefighter/EMT on the night of the incident. He responded to a call for service, rendered aid to Varner, and transported him to Trident Hospital. McAllister said the scene was categorized as "high priority" because the victim "needed advanced life support" from the paramedic on scene. He noted the gunshot wounds to Varner's left arm and left leg, reassessed and tightened a tourniquet that had already been applied, did additional "bleeding control" with bandages, placed Varner in the ambulance, started an IV, and took him to the hospital. McAllister noted there were two bullet holes in Varner's leg, one in his ankle and one in his upper leg and that the tourniquet had been applied to stop "gross bleeding." He explained that with a thigh wound, "there can be multiple liters of blood [being] lost." (R.p.102-p.105; p.108-p.109).

GCPD officer Christopher Dowling was a field training officer on the night of the incident and assisted in responding to the scene. Although an officer from GCPD and two

Berkeley County deputies were already present, EMS had not yet arrived. Dowling observed a man with a bloody leg who was complaining of a gunshot wound. He began taking verbal statements from witnesses and bystanders and created a crime scene log before returning to the station. There, Dowling saw Canales in custody and transported him to the Berkeley County Detention Center. He authenticated his body camera footage from that night and it was admitted as State's Exhibit #3. (R.p.109-p.116; p.124-p.125).

GCPD Corporal Miranda Nation also participated in the investigation of the incident. Upon arrival, she met with Galluccio and was instructed to go to the hospital to talk to two different gunshot victims who were being treated there. Nation first talked to Varner and got his version of the incident, which included identifying one suspect as someone he already knew by first name and who he described as a short Hispanic male wearing all black clothing. Nation then went to talk to the other gunshot victim and observed he matched the name and description given by Varner, including the black clothing that was then in a bag after being removed during his treatment. Nation took photographs of Varner's injuries but was unable to photograph all of them due to certain bandages that could not be removed and what Varner reported as "extreme pain." She also collected the bag of Canales' clothing and transported it to the GCPD, and then identified Canales in the courtroom. (R.p.126-p.139).

On the second day of trial, the State called the two victims to the stand. Ward described leaving the bowling alley with Varner, when a group of people got out of a car and threatened them with guns. He said "Meech," who he identified in the courtroom as Appellant, put a gun to his head, went through his pockets, and took his wallet when he heard gunfire erupt between Varner and the group of attackers. Ward authenticated video recordings of the incident from the

bowling alley security cameras and those videos were admitted as State's Exhibits #16 & #17. (R.p.156-p.171; p.194-p.197).

Next, Varner described the incident, identifying both Appellant and Canales as two of the five attackers. He said that after he, Ward, and a girl named Destiny walked out to the parking lot, he saw Canales approach with a handgun in his hand where he told Varner not to move, or scream, or touch anything. Varner said he turned around and reached in his pocket to grab his own gun when he was hit in the back of the head and started running. He heard a shot and returned fire and then heard "all kinds of gunshots while running away." Varner testified he thought he and Ward were being robbed and that the incident was not "any sort of drug deal." He further testified his whole left side was bleeding from top to bottom and he thought he was going to die. (R.p.200-p.210). On cross-examination, when Varner was asked why he was afraid he was going to die, he noted that he had been shot three times and that most people die from one bullet regardless of where they are shot. He explained that while he was at the hospital he felt like he was going to pass out. (R.p.237).

GCPD crime scene investigator Sandra Favero was dispatched to process the crime scene on the night of the incident. She first went to the location where Waites had found the tinted window with the bullet hole, photographed it, and collected the window tinting as evidence. Favero then went to the bowling alley parking lot and took hundreds of photos at the scene. She also prepared a sketch of the crime scene which was admitted into evidence without objection as State's Exhibit #18. Favero described the items she collected and then proceeded to identify those items which were now in a box labeled State's Exhibit #19, which was admitted into evidence. (R.p.242-p.258). GCPD evidence custodian Taveres Liggons described how evidence

is received and securely stored in the GCPD evidence room and then identified the evidence actually received and stored in this case. (R.p.274-p.279).

Next, Dr. Daniel Regino described his extensive medical training and experience, noting he was board certified in emergency medicine by the American Board of Medical Examiners and had treated patients with injuries “tens of thousands” of times. He was admitted, without objection, as an expert in emergency medicine. Dr. Regino testified he was the emergency physician working at Trident Health Systems on April 25, 2021, where he treated Varner for his injuries after Varner came into the trauma unit with multiple gunshot wounds to the left upper and lower extremities. Dr. Regino gave his expert opinion that shooting a person three times with a firearm is likely to injure the person in a manner that causes: (1) substantial risk of death; (2) serious permanent disfigurement; and (3) protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily organ. (R.p.279-p.282). On cross-examination, Dr. Regino testified the injuries Varner sustained were not life threatening. He said that thankfully, despite suffering three gunshot wounds, Varner did not “bleed out very quickly.” (R.p.282-p.284).

Finally, SLED forensic scientist and firearms examiner Chad Smith was admitted as an expert in firearms analysis, without objection. He explained how he conducts firearms analysis in general and then described the testing he did on the various shell casings or fired bullets he examined in this case. Smith was able to conclude that five of the .380 cartridge casings discovered were fired from the Ruger firearm collected from the scene, but had no conclusions about the others, because he had no firearm to compare to the .357 Sig caliber cartridge cases or the .45 auto caliber cartridge cases that were discovered. (R.p.286-p.291).

At the conclusion of Smith’s testimony, the State rested. (R.p.305). Appellant and Canales moved for directed verdicts as to all charges and those motions were denied. (R.p.305-

p.307). After advising the defendants on the record regarding their rights to testify, they each elected not to testify or present a defense and instead rested. Appellant and Canales renewed their motions for directed verdicts and those motions were again denied. (R.p.308-p.318; p.335-p.336).

Charge Conference

The trial court held a charge conference which spanned the end of day two and the start of day three of trial. (R.p.318-p.335). During the charge conference, Canales asked the trial court to charge first-degree assault and battery and second-degree assault and battery as lesser-included offenses of ABHAN. Appellant joined in the request and argued, in regard to second-degree assault and battery, the evidence demonstrated Varner's injuries were not life threatening. The solicitor responded that the State's theory of the case did not require actual life-threatening injuries and that Dr. Regino's testimony directly supported the elements of the ABHAN charge. He argued that a charge on the lesser-included offenses would just give the jury an out, and that lesser included offenses were not appropriate charges where Varner was shot three times. (R.p.331, line 16-p.333, line 4).

The trial court ruled that it had reviewed the first-degree assault and battery statute, thought "assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature mirrors that charge" and therefore, decided first-degree assault and battery would not be charged. Canales noted the trial court had not referenced second-degree assault and battery in its ruling but that "we'll honor your decision." Appellant continued to argue that first-degree assault and battery should be charged, claiming it was not redundant and that the jury should be given the option of what charges for which to convict. He asked the court to focus on what elements *might* satisfy the statute rather

than what elements of the statute the State was trying to prove. The trial court did not alter its ruling. (R.p.333, line 5-p.335, line 16).

Conclusion of Trial

The parties proceeded to make closing arguments. During its close, the State highlighted the testimony from Dr. Regino that Varner's gunshot wounds were the kinds of wounds likely to produce death and great bodily injury, serious permanent disfigurement, or a protracted loss or impairment of the function of the body or an organ. (R.p.339, lines 9-15; p.342, line 25-p.343, line 7). In response, Appellant argued that while the doctor said being shot could potentially cause a person to die, he also specifically said Varner's injuries were not life threatening. (R.p.357, lines 9-14). Canales made no mention of Varner's injuries during his close. (R.p.364-p.374).

The trial judge then charged the jury on the roles of the judge and jury, including: the judge's duty to charge the law applicable to the case; the obligation to treat the two defendants separately and individually; the burden of proof; the presumption of innocence; direct and circumstantial evidence; reasonable doubt; credibility of witnesses; expert witnesses; criminal intent; the elements of each offense; accomplice liability; identification testimony; the defendants' rights not to testify; and the verdict forms. (R.p.374-p.394). In regard to the assault, the trial court charged common law ABHAN¹ as well as the statutory elements of first-degree assault and battery; however, it did not charge the statutory elements of second-degree assault and battery. (R.p.385, line 7-p.386, line 7).

¹ The Omnibus Crime Act of 2010 abolished the common law crime of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and adopted a new crime with the same name. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(B)(1). Common law ABHAN was described as an unlawful act of violent injury to another accompanied by circumstances of aggravation; however, serious injury was not in fact required. *State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 522 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1999). The offense was punishable under Section 17-25-30 with imprisonment for a maximum of ten years and was classified as a misdemeanor. *State v. Hill*, 254 S.C. 321, 331, 175 S.E.2d 227, 232 (1970).

After the jury was excused but before they began deliberations, the trial judge commented as follows:

All right. For the record, in the back, I took an opportunity to read and apply some of the facts to the assault and battery in the first degree, and over the State's objection, I chose to go ahead and charge it, so it's noted for the record.